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INTRODUCTION 

With newspapers and news broadcasts regularly in­
forming Americans about the latest decisions and develop­
ments respecting the MX project, neutron bombs, rapid 
deployment forces, or other existing or proposed parts of 
the nation's military resources, it is sometimes difficult 
to realize that throughout most of its history the United 
States maintained a passive, highly defensive military 
posture. The ideology of the American Revolution identi­
fied militarism and aggression as inherent in monarchy and 
empire. True republicanism could be free of the perils 
of standing armies and the burdens of an ocean-going navy. 
With the broad Atlantic separating the new nation from the 
Old World, a defensive military posture was embraced and 
maintained for over a century. The permanent monuments to 
that defensive policy appear in the form of late eighteenth-
and nineteenth-century forts, many of which still stand 
near east and gulf coast ports and harbors. Among the half 
dozen such works surviving in the vicinity of New York harbor 
are those on -the grounds of the military post now known as 
Fort Wadsworth. That post is on the Staten Island side of 
the Narrows, the body of water, less than a mile wide, which 
connects Upper New York Bay with the lower bay. 

This study is a history of the site and institution 
of Fort Wadsworth, in so far as that site served for the 
mounting of guns to be used against hostile ships. That 
service began with the British, who occupied Staten Island 
and other parts of the lower Hudson valley during the War of 
American Independence, and it continued to the end of World 
War I. Indeed, a few guns and batteries remained in service 
during World War II. According to Emanuel Raymond Lewis, 
American harbor and seacoast fortifications have experienced 
eight stages or generations. The first four consist of the 
colonial and Revolutionary stage: the so-called First 
American System, 1794-1800; the Second System, 1807-1815; 
and the Third System, 1819-1865. They encompass the era of 
the muzzle-loading, smoothbore cannon. The last four stages, 
belonging to the period of breech-loading, rifled artillery, 
are the Endicott Board years, 1885-1905; the Taft Board era, 
1905-1910; the years of World War I; and those of World War 
II.-*- Fort Wadsworth participated in the first six of these 
stages and was significantly and adversely affected by the 
same developments as produced the last two. Accordingly, 
the Lewis chronology provides the general organizational 
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structure for this study. 

Since the focus fixes on Fort Wadsworth as a harbor 
and seacoast defense position, certain aspects of the 
history of the site and its military garrison have not 
been explored. The non-military uses made of the original 
tract, before its purchase for fortification purposes by 
the state of New York in 1794, have not been examined, 
except for a lengthy refutation of a claim that the site 
mounted guns during the century before the American Revolu­
tion. Similarly, no effort has been made to determine the 
previous history of additional lands added to the original 
site. During the half century after World War I, the post 
contained a variety of army units other than coast artillery, 
and that part of Fort Wadsworth's past lies outside the 
scope of investigation. 

No comprehensive history of Fort Wadsworth exists, 
and the present study breaks new ground. Much of what has 
been written about the site contains flaws of one type or 
another, particularly respecting the long period before 1920. 
A number of articles and pamphlets have been written by or 
under the auspices of commanding officers of the post since 
World War I. That literature, although weak on the more re­
mote aspects of the installation's career, is useful for 
recent years. Particularly to be consulted for developments 
after 1920 is a two-part article by Robert Krist.^ 

The aim of this report is to tell the story of Fort 
Wadsworth and its function in harbor and seacoast defense 
as that story can be pieced together from primary sources. 
The use of original documents is especially imperative re­
specting the first century of European colonization of the 
area, because of what is almost a mythology about the early 
beginnings of the post. Moreover, since little has been 
written about Fort Wadsworth during the period 1776 to 1920, 
primary sources afford the only means for a reconstruction 
of its past. Among the depositories visited in preparation 
of this report are the National Archives, Washington; the 
Federal Archives and Research Center, Bayonne, New Jersey, 
a branch of the National Archives; the U.S. Army Military 
History Institute and Research Collection, Carlisle Barracks, 
Carlisle, Pennsylvania; the New York State Library, Albany; 
and the New York Historical Society, New York. 

Much information is available in published reports 
of the War Department and the U.S. Army, especially the 
annual reports of the bureau, department, office or Corps 
of Engineers. For the years before 1840, many of these 
reports appear in the collection, American State Papers. 
For the period 1840-1904, they are contained in the Federal 
or U.S. Serials, published by Congress. To avoid overly 
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long endnote citation of the annual reports of the Chief 
of Engineers, a form has been employed centering on the 
year of the report. A similar system is used for reports 
of the Secretary of War. In the bibliography, particulars 
are provided as to the locations of these reports within 
the congressional papers. 

Confusion has been generated by the variety of names 
assigned to the water battery occupying the edge of the 
Narrows. Known today as Battery Weed, that structure was 
formerly designated Fort Wadsworth and before that Fort 
Richmond. Since the post itself bears the name Fort Wads­
worth, difficulties have been inevitable. To avoid the 
problem this study refers to the water battery as Fort 
Richmond up to the time it became Battery Weed. "Fort 
Wadsworth" denotes the post generally, even in the period 
before it became the official name of the reservation. 

By the terms of legislation enacted by Congress in 
October 197 2, the Fort Wadsworth reservation is among the 
sites to be administered by the National Park Service as 
part of the Gateway National Recreation Area. This report 
has been prepared under a contract with the Park Service. 
Since the contract was entered, however, a measure of un­
certainty has emerged concerning the disposition of Fort 
Wadsworth, and as of this writing it remains in the hands 
of the U.S. Army. Whatever the future of Fort Wadsworth, 
it is hoped that this history will be of benefit to the 
Park Service. It is neither possible nor desirable to re­
construct the past of any one fortified site in New York 
Harbor in a manner totally divorced from the others. 
Accordingly this history, although concentrating on Fort 
Wadsworth, treats the evolution of the defenses of New York 
at large. The National Park Service does administer a 
number of locations in the harbor once the site of coastal 
fortifications, namely Bedloes or Liberty Island, Ellis 
Island, Rockaway Foint, and Sandy Hook. The report should be 
of value to the Park Service by virtue of information 
touching upon these sites, in addition to serving the original 
intention, should Fort Wadsworth become part of the Gateway 
National Recreation Area. 



CHAPTER I 

THE SEVENTEENTH AND EIGHTEENTH CENTURIES 

The west bank of the Narrows was first used as a 
location for channel-bearing artillery during the American 
Revolution. Accordingly, a history of Fort Wadsworth should 
begin with that period. The existing literature dealing 
with the site, however, almost unanimously asserts that at 
a much earlier date guns were mounted and a garrison sta­
tioned on the Staten Island side of the Narrows. It is 
also asserted that, beginning in 1663, the fortifications 
on the site were permanently manned, making Fort Wadsworth 
the oldest continuously garrisoned military location in the 
country. These assertions have no foundation in primary 
sources. 

Perhaps the erroneous view of Fort Wadsworth's anti­
quity originated in the 1890s, when a local historian wrote, 
"The Dutch had a fort on the heights of the Narrows (now 
Fort Wadsworth), during their control; the English enlarged 
and strengthened it. . . . " The most recent statement 
appears in a 1979 issue of a journal devoted to old military 
posts. The author claims that in 1636 Staten Island's "first 
defenses were built in the form of a blockhouse," its loca­
tion being "the heights now occupied by the present-day 
Fort Wadsworth." Because the original structure was destroyed 
by Indians, "in 1663 a second blockhouse was built, and this 
marked the beginning of the uninterrupted garrisoning of the 
site which has continued to the present day." In the early 
1970s, when the federal government announced intentions to 
phase out Fort Wadsworth, newspapers highlighted its alleged 
great age. The New York Times headline read "Longest-iRun 
Fort, Wadsworth, Is Closing," and the lead sentence stated: 

Time is running out for the longest continuously 
manned post in North America, as the army carries 
out plans to terminate military operations at 
the three-centuries old Fort Wadsworth. . . . 

The Times article suggests how widespread has become the 
myth about Fort Wadsworth's beginnings. 

Most of the following chapter constitutes a denial of 
the prevailing view of the early history of the site now occu­
pied by Fort Wadsworth. The author of the present study 
takes no perverse pleasure in refuting local historians, 
Army public information officers, or journalists. History 
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is a discipline bound to a reconstruction of the past on 
the basis of reliable evidence, in this instance documenta­
tion. And the documentary record simply cannot sustain the 
conclusion that Fort Wadsworth's origins as a military site 
date earlier than the 1770s. Most assuredly the location 
had not been garrisoned during the previous hundred years. 
The prevailing view comes closest to historical reality in 
the claim that a blockhouse was erected by the Dutch in 
1663. Indeed, one document originating with authorities in 
the Netherlands suggests the structure overlooked the 
Narrows. That evidence, however, has to be analyzed within 
the context of a dispute with the chief local representa­
tive, who had a much better understanding of the circumstances 
and who gave the location of the blockhouse as south of the 
hill above the Narrows. 

Between 1621 and 1664, the lower Hudson area con­
stituted part of the province of New Netherland, adminis­
tered by the Dutch West India Company. In August 1664, the 
arrival of a British naval squadron in what later became 
known as New York Bay occasioned the surrender of all of 
New Netherland to the English. For more than a century, the 
province, now designated New York, remained within England's 
North American empire. That status ended with the American 
Revolution. As a result of the successful campaign in the 
summer of 1776, Great Britain controlled the lower Hudson 
valley, and, throughout the entire War of American 
Independence, part of New York was within the lines of the 
American patriots and the remainder in English hands. After 
the British evacuation in 1783, Staten Island, Manhattan, and 
Long Island were reunited with the rest of New York. 

The Dutch and Staten Island 

In the nineteenth century, fortifications on the 
Staten Island side of the Narrows served to advance the 
security of the harbor of New York. That such a considera­
tion prevailed in the earlier period, especially during the 
beginnings of European colonization, should not be assumed. 
Indeed, a more likely motive for erection and maintenance of 
defensive works was providing the immediate locality with pro­
tection in the event of an attack by an enemy. Since the 
greatest danger to early Europeans on Staten Island came 
from Indians, who continued to reside in the same area, no 
justification exists for the supposition that fortifications 
were constructed at the Narrows, unless that was the site of 
a settlement. 

The first three efforts at the colonization of 
Staten Island failed. In 1639 David Pieterz de Vries, who 
claimed the entire island, started a plantation believed 
to be at or near the Watering Place in later Tompkinsville. 
Indians attacked and destroyed the settlement in 1641. 
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A recent history of Fort Wadsworth claims the settlement 
began earlier and that in 1636 De Vries built the first 
blockhouse, defended by two men, on the heights occupied 
by Fort Wadsworth. No documentation has been found to 
support this statement.2 

Shortly after the Indian assault on the first 
settlement, De Vries was asked by the governor of New 
Netherland, William Kieft, whether he would permit 
Cornelis Melyn: 

to go upon the point of Staten Island, where 
the maize-land lay, saying he wished to let 
him plant it, and that he would place soldiers 
there, who would make a signal by displaying 
a flag, to make known at the fort Qat New 
Amsterdam] whenever ships were in the bay, to 
which I consented. . . . 

In the meantime, the authorities at New Amsterdam had re­
solved that: 

Whereas a short time ago some of our people on 
Staten Island have been murdered by the Savages, 
Therefore, to prevent further mishaps and to 
protect the people still living there, we have 
judged it very advisable and proper to erect 
upon the said Island a small redoubt at so 
small an expense as possible. 

In their history of Staten Island, Charles Leng and William 
Davis state that they do not know the location of the 
settlement, but that if Melyn "located at the point of 
Staten Island 'where the maize-land lay, ' as De Vries ex­
pected, and where a signal flag would be useful, his lo­
cation would have been Arrochar or Fort Wadsworth."3 

Another Indian raid or the general state of tension between 
the Dutch and Indians supposedly led to the abandonment of 
the settlement in 1643. 

Much is uncertain about Melyn's plantation. There 
is no proof that a settlement actually was begun, that a 
redoubt was erected, that the site was the maize lands, or 
that the maize lands were at Fort Wadsworth, as Leng and 
Davis conjecture. The reference by Kieft in 1641 to use of 
a signal flag at Staten Island is the first mention of a 
series of devices which actually and later did come into 
being to convey messages to Manhattan. Eventually, the 
heights at the Narrows occupied by the present Fort Tompkins 
came to be known as Flag Staff Hill or Signal Hill. But a 
suggestion in the 1640s that a signal be erected on Staten 
Island is no foundation for the conclusion that a fort was 
built and further that the fort was within the present 
reservation of Fort Wadsworth. 

Archeological work in the early 1960s led two 
investigators to speculate that Melyn's settlement lay in 
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what later became the community of Oude Dorp or Dover, 
southwest of the future Fort Wadsworth. A difficulty 
arises, however, since Oude Dorp was also the site of the 
successful settlement established in 1662, and there is 
no explanation offered why the alleged pre-1650 artifacts 
produced during the excavations could not have originated 
with the later plantation.4 

Melyn was also responsible for the third unsuccess­
ful settlement on Staten Island. In 1650, acting under a 
contract with Baron Hendrick van der Capellen, Melyn 
resolved "to restock my ruined colony and, again, if 
possible, to restore the same." According to his later 
testimony, sixteen "handsome farms" were started. After 
five years, this community suffered a fate similar to its 
predecessors and was attacked and burned by the Indians. 
A traveller in October 1655 wrote, "On the 21st we sailed 
for the North River, from Staten Island, by the watering-
place, and saw that all the houses there, and about 
Melyn' s house, were burned by the Indians".-* This ob­
servation may be variously interpreted—that the entire 
settlement was at the Watering Place or that some houses 
were at the Watering Place and others at another site, 
near Melyn's home. 

Melyn irked the authorities in both New and old 
Amsterdam. In 1651 the directors in the Netherlands 
denounced as falsehoods a number of pretensions and plans 
of Melyn, including the notion that "a royal fort Lbej 
built upon the point of Staten Island, where all vessels 
must come to anchor before sailing up to the Manhattans." 
They further stated "we have never heard of these and 
other dreams. . . . "6 The directors' denunciation suggests 
that at that time there was no bona fide fort on Staten 
Island's "point" or any place else in the vicinity. 

Despite the hostilities between Indians and settlers, 
a few Dutch had remained on Staten Island following the 
collapse of each of the three efforts to start permanent 
communities. Whether or not soldiers could be garrisoned 
on Staten Island for the protection of these settlers 
received comment from Governor Peter Stuyvesant, the 
planters, and the directors at home. Apparently a small 
military contingent was briefly maintained on the island 
in the mid-1650s. The governor, however, regarded the 
number of residents as too small to justify even a minute 
force. In January 1656, he told his council: 

I stop here and impress upon your Honors' mind, 
whether it would not be well to remove also the 
small garrison on Staten Island, which has no 
more protection, but much less than the sailors 
on the yacht. 

A resolution was thereupon adopted to relocate the settlers 


